STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

MICHAEL ANTHONY ROGERS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002116

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
May 29 2020
SC Court of Appeals

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the PCR Court err in denying Petitioner relief where trial counsel failed to admit a 911 tape which contained evidence of Petitioner's efforts to save the decedent's life and tended to prove that the stabbing was an accident which would have further supported an involuntary manslaughter jury charge?

II. Did the PCR court err in denying Petitioner relief where trial counsel failed to argue to the trial court and preserve for appellate review whether Petitioner was entitled to the lesser-included jury charge of involuntary manslaughter where evidence in the record indicated a struggle over a weapon and where this Court found that counsel failed to preserve the issue of habitation, and where trial counsel failed to request jury charges for involuntary manslaughter and habitation?

STATEMENT

A Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder during its March 2011 term of court. App. 597. Prior to trial, a hearing was held on September 2, 2011 before the Honorable J. Derham Cole to dismiss the case pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450. App. 1. Danny Fulmer appeared on behalf of the State, and Clay T. Allen represented Petitioner. The motion was denied. App. 153 ll. 2 – 13.

Petitioner's case was called to trial before Judge Cole and a jury on October 4, 2011 with the same attorneys present. App. 119. Following a three-day trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty of voluntary manslaughter. App. 484 ll. 8 – 13. Judge Cole sentenced Petitioner to twenty-one years' imprisonment. App. 489 l. 20 – 490 l. 4.

Petitioner's conviction and sentence were affirmed. State v. Rogers, Op. No. 2014-UP-332 (S.C. Ct. App. filed September 17, 2014).

Petitioner filed a timely application for post-conviction relief. App. 492. His application contained allegations that trial and appellate counsel were ineffective. App. 494; App. 499 – 502. The State made its Return on or about July 1, 2016. App. 504.

An evidentiary hearing was conducted on February 1, 2017 before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. App. 511. Susannah C. Ross represented Petitioner, and Caitlin B. Hastings appeared on behalf of the State. Petitioner and trial counsel testified during the hearing.

In a written order filed on April 6, 2017, Judge Miller dismissed Petitioner's application, finding that Petitioner failed to satisfy Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). App. 573.

Petitioner then filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment on or about April 11, 2017. App. 585. The State filed a return on or about May 1, 2017. App. 590. The PCR Court denied the motion by way of a Form 4 order. App. 595.

A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed on April 13, 2018. The state filed a Return on August 23, 2018. On September 10, 2018, this case was transferred to this Court. On January 7, 2020, certiorari was granted. This Brief of Petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue. Appellate courts will uphold the PCR court's factual findings if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support them. Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 814 S.E.2d 487 (2018); Sellner v. State, 416 606, 787 S.E.2d 525 (2016). Courts review questions of law de novo with no deference to the circuit court and will reverse if the PCR court's decision is controlled by an error of law. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018).

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR Court erred in denying Petitioner relief where trial counsel failed to admit a 911 tape which contained evidence of Petitioner's efforts to save the decedent's life and tended to prove that the stabbing was an accident which would have further supported an involuntary manslaughter jury charge.

On the night of November 12, 2010, Tonya Lowery and John Ryan were at Petitioner's trailer. App. 8 l. 2 – App. 9 l. 20. Lowery was Petitioner's girlfriend. App. 9 ll. 23 – 25. Ryan approached Lowery from behind and “put his arms around [her] below [her] chest.” App. 11 l. 4 – App. 14 l. 11. She asked him to stop. Id.

After noticing Ryan touching his girlfriend against her wishes, Petitioner shoved Ryan. Id. Following a brief scuffle, Lowery asked Petitioner to stop because “[h]e [had] proved his point.” Id. Petitioner got off of Ryan who then kicked Petitioner between the legs. Id. The two began fighting again. Id. At some point there was a break in the fight—Petitioner went into the bathroom, had a cigarette, and cleaned up a cut on his lip. App. 522 ll. 1 – 8.

Petitioner asked Ryan to leave three times. App. 13 l. 7 – 24. Because he did not, the two continued brawling. Id. Lowery left through the back door of the trailer because she was upset and “couldn't handle the fact that they were fighting.” Id.

After she walked in front of the trailer, Petitioner requested that she dial 911 because he had accidentally stabbed Ryan. App. 13 l. 25 – App. 14 l. 3. Ryan stood up, walked over to the bar and placed his cell phone on the bar before falling over onto the floor. App. 15 ll. 1 – 17. He started coughing and then stopped breathing. App. 17 ll. 1 – 12. In an attempt to save his life, Petitioner attempted mouth-to-mouth resuscitation. Id.; App. 65 ll. 12 – 25.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner introduced the 911 call without objection. App. 518 ll. 12 – 17. After listening to the tape, Petitioner explained that he could be heard yelling in the background:

I was trying to save the man's life. It was an accident, the way he got stabbed. I never meant to stab the man. I didn't know what else to do. He was just bleeding profusely. And I put the towel on him, he passed out, and gave him mouth-to-mouth resuscitation. He wasn't responding. The ambulance was taking forever to get there, I didn't know what else to do.

Come to find out, though, the ambulance was outside in my driveway, and they didn't - - weren't able to come in because the police hadn't arrived yet. I guess because there was a crime involved, I guess, with the knife and all, and that's why they were waiting in my driveway, I don't know. It just seemed forever for them to come in the house. But I honestly did the best to save his life.

App. 519 l. 14 – App. 520 l. 4.

Trial counsel was appointed to Petitioner's case. App. 544 ll. 2 – 7. He disagreed with the State's characterization of the evidence as overwhelming, calling it "a toss-up." App. 544 ll. 8 – 21. He was unable to state whether he provided Petitioner with discovery materials. App. 545 ll. 12 – 15.

Trial counsel indicated that the 911 tape was helpful "in the sense that you do hear the concern and the panic in [Petitioner's] voice, you know, his concern about, you know, they were saying he's losing him or dying." App. 566 ll. 18 – 21.

A PCR applicant has the burden of proving his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence. See Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. If there is any probative evidence to support the findings of the PCR court, those findings must be upheld. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). Likewise, a PCR court's findings should not be upheld if there is no probative evidence to support them. Holland v. State, 322 S.C. 111, 113, 470 S.E.2d 378, 379 (1996).

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient, and the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant's case. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688–89, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. To show counsel was deficient, the applicant must establish counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052; Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. To show prejudice, the applicant must show that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052; Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson, 325 S.C. at 186, 480 S.E.2d at 735.

Petitioner received ineffective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to introduce the 911 tape. It offered additional context, and Petitioner could be heard proclaiming that the injury was an accident. As a contemporaneous record, taken as events were unfolding, it would have clarified Petitioner's actions and served to exonerate him. Petitioner could be heard yelling the decedent's name. Lowery informed the 911 operator that Petitioner was “trying to keep him alive.” She advised the operator that it was safe for first responders to come into the house. Further, she indicated that Petitioner and the decedent were friends. All of this information would have changed the context of the evidence presented by the state and likely caused the jury to have reached a different verdict.

The Order of Dismissal addressed this allegation in a rather conclusory fashion. App. 580. Seemingly overlooking the portion of trial counsel's testimony wherein he admitted that the 911 tape was helpful, the PCR court found that counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for failing

to admit the tape. However, the 911 tape would have prevented the state from making the following claim during closing argument:

I imagine Mike and John were havin' a pretty good time and [lo] and behold Mike walks outta the bathroom, he sees John touching his woman and that set him off and he attacked John, he told ya he attacked John, he admits to that. He was in a fit [of] rage, some fights ensued, Jackie's now gone, Tonya's outside maybe, I don't know where she really may have been, but he's mad, he's mad and he's got a knife, he attacked John. John was drunk, John was no match for him, he'd already beat him up twice, he just, he couldn't get beyond that anger, in that rage he stabbed John, stabbed John in the back, he stabbed John in the chest and John bled to death on the floor of his trailer. After John's laying here, I would imagine the thought occurred to him, Uh-oh, what have I done, **so he does what a guilty person would do, he goes to the bathroom, he washes his hands, he washes that knife and he throws it underneath the dryer.**

App. 454 ll. 8 – 23 (emphasis added).

Multiple fights occurred throughout the course of the evening. App. 374 l. 3 – App. 377 l. 8. After one of the breaks, when Petitioner went into the bathroom and rinsed blood off himself, John Ryan was still upright, talking, and searching for his keys. Id. Later on, Petitioner and Ryan began fighting again after John “sucker-punched” Petitioner. App. 379 ll. 7 – 20. At this point, Ryan was armed with a knife. App. 379 l. 19 – App. 382 l. 22. Petitioner subdued him and, after noticing a cut on his own arm, again washed himself off. App. 382 l. 23 – App. 384 l. 24. Immediately after leaving the bathroom, he reentered the kitchen and told Lowery to call 911. Id. Petitioner then began applying pressure to the wound with dish towels and eventually began mouth-to-mouth resuscitation. App. 385 ll. 8 – 25.

The 911 call would have mirrored Petitioner's testimony. It would have supported Petitioner's statement to the jury that he attempted to save Ryan's life. App. 386 ll. 1 – 11. Petitioner denied placing the knife anywhere else intentionally. App. 391 ll. 3 – 24. Petitioner testified that the last time he saw the knife, it was on the bathroom sink. App. 392 ll. 8 – 13. The

911 call would have alerted the jury to the fact that Petitioner immediately began trying to administer life-saving efforts to Ryan upon realizing that the wound was serious.

The validity of counsel's strategy is reviewed under "an objective standard of reasonableness." Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 560 S.E.2d 401 (2002). Counsel's suggestion that the 911 tape would have been duplicative of favorable testimony from witnesses is objectively unreasonable. The tape would have assisted in the defense of Petitioner, and the failure to use it was ineffective assistance of counsel.

Had counsel admitted the tape into evidence, the jury would might have believed his testimony that he did not mean to stab Ryan. Petitioner was prejudiced on this matter, as explained in detail below, because he did not receive an involuntary manslaughter charge. The 911 tape provided an additional point of view and constituted uncontroverted evidence from which Petitioner could have requested a jury charge on involuntary manslaughter.

II. The PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief where trial counsel failed to argue to the trial court and preserve for appellate review whether Petitioner was entitled to the lesser-included jury charge of involuntary manslaughter where evidence in the record indicated a struggle over a weapon and where this Court found that counsel failed to preserve the issue of habitation, and where trial counsel failed to request jury charges for involuntary manslaughter and habitation.

Petitioner failed to argue habitation and involuntary manslaughter and as a result did not receive a corresponding jury charge. As Petitioner testified:

[Trial counsel] should have asked for involuntary manslaughter because there was evidence during the trial of a struggle of a weapon. A self-defense charge, which was charged, and involuntary manslaughter are not mutually exclusive. It should have been charged, I believe, because there was testimony in there - - in the transcript and the trial that there was a struggle over the weapon.

App. 530 ll. 3 – 15.

As articulated by Petitioner, the defense of habitation “should be charged when [a] defendant presents evidence with defending himself on an imminent attack on his own premises.” App. 530 ll. 16 – 23; App. 536 l. 22 – App. 537 l. 3. As admitted by counsel, there was testimony from Petitioner’s trial which indicated that the stabbing was an accident. App. 557 l. 4 – App. 558 l. 6. Counsel admitted that he had “pulled a [habitation] charge” according to his research folder. App. 561 ll. 15 – 24. His reason for not requesting it was that he did not “really view this as [Petitioner] defending his home,” rather Petitioner was “defending himself.” App. 561 ll. 15 – 24.

When asked about a relevant case from this Court which had come out prior to Petitioner’s trial, Petitioner admitted that he did not bring the case to the judge’s attention.¹ App. 562 l. 2 – App. 563 l. 22.

¹ State v. Bryant, 391 S.C. 225, 705 S.E.2d 465 (Ct. App. 2010).

A trial court is required to charge the current and correct law in South Carolina. State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011). The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser included offense, the court views the facts in a light most favorable to the defendant. See Knoten, 347 S.C. at 302, 555 S.E.2d at 394 (providing a court must view the facts in the light most favorable to a defendant when determining whether evidence required a charge on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter alongside the charge of murder). A request to charge a lesser included offense is properly refused **only** when there is no evidence that the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense. Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 447, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991); see also State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C. 396, 398, 472 S.E.2d 241, 241(1996) (“The trial judge is to charge the jury on a lesser included offense if there is any evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.”).

An appellate court will only reverse a trial court's decision regarding a jury charge if there is an abuse of discretion. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should give a requested charge on the matter. State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 109 (1999). The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand constitutes an error of law. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 114, 167 (2007).

In deciding whether the jury was misled or the appellant prejudiced by allegedly erroneous instructions, the charge must be considered as a whole. State v. Hoffman, 257 S.C. 461, 186 S.E.2d 421 (1972); State v. Clamp, 225 S.C. 89, 80 S.E.2d 918 (1954); State v. Chappell, 185 S.C. 111, 193 S.E. 924 (1937).

“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.” S.C. Const. art. V, § 21; State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 602, 685 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2009). It is error to give instructions which are calculated to confuse or mislead the jury. State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 355 S.E.2d 270 (1987); see also Wright v. Harris, 228 S.C. 144, 89 S.E.2d 97 (1955) (the giving of conflicting and irrelevant instructions is reversible error). This is so because the purpose of jury instructions is to enlighten the jury as to what law is applicable to a certain state of facts in order that a just, fair and proper verdict can be reached. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 355 S.E.2d 270. “The purpose of a jury instruction is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” State v. Blurton, 352 S.C. 203, 207-08, 573 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2002).

Involuntary manslaughter is: (1) the unintentional killing of another without malice, but while engaged in an unlawful activity not amounting to a felony and not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm; or (2) the unintentional killing of another without malice, while engaged in a lawful activity with reckless disregard for the safety of others.

State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 414, 706 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2011). For the purposes of an involuntary manslaughter jury charge, “ ‘[a] person can be acting lawfully, even if he is in unlawful possession of a weapon, if he was entitled to arm himself in self-defense at the time of the shooting.’ ” State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 180, 691 S.E.2d 482, 485 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 52, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003)). “[A] self-defense charge and an involuntary manslaughter charge are not mutually exclusive....” State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 650, 664 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2008).

There is a difference between being armed in self-defense and acting in self-defense.... [In] determining whether one is armed in self-defense, the court is “concerned only with whether the defendant had a right to be armed for purposes of determining whether he was engaged in a lawful act, i.e. was lawfully armed, and not whether he actually acted in self-defense when the shooting occurred.”

Brayboy, 387 S.C. at 181, 691 S.E.2d at 486 (quoting Light, 378 S.C. 641, 664 S.E.2d 465). Our appellate courts have held that “evidence of a struggle over a weapon between a defendant and victim supports submission of an involuntary manslaughter charge” when the evidence shows the defendant was lawfully armed in self-defense at the time of the shooting and the defendant recklessly handled the loaded gun. Id. at 180, 691 S.E.2d at 485; see also State v. Rivera, 389 S.C. 399, 404–05, 699 S.E.2d 157, 159–60 (2010); Light, 378 S.C. at 648–49, 664 S.E.2d at 468–69; Tisdale v. State, 378 S.C. 122, 125–26, 662 S.E.2d 410, 412 (2008); State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 265, 513 S.E.2d 104, 109 (1999). “Recklessness is a state of mind in which the actor is aware of his or her conduct, yet consciously disregards a risk which his or her conduct is creating.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 571, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2008).

As set forth in State v. Bryant:

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