RECEIVED
Sep 09 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Trial Judge
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002116

MICHAEL ROGERS.....Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce a favorable 911 call at trial and for failing to move for jury instructions concerning involuntary manslaughter and habitation. However, the PCR court properly rejected these arguments, finding that Counsel acted reasonable and Petitioner was not prejudiced when Counsel did not enter a 911 call into evidence that had damming evidence on it and when he did not pursue habitation defense and involuntary manslaughter jury instructions after concluding they were not relevant to Petitioner's case. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record.

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

In a PCR action, the applicant bears the burden of proving allegations contained in the application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant asserts ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must show "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the Sixth Amendment, as explained by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*.

Pursuant to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis, the applicant must prove defense counsel's performance was deficient. *Id.* at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel's actions fell outside of the zone of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. *See also* Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP ("The applicant

has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence.”). Reasonableness is determined by the “variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant,” and the scope of the reasonableness inquiry is limited to facts counsel had available at the time of representation. *Id.* at 689. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually “countless” ways. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant so that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695. Realistically, this matters ““only in the rarest case”” because “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 111-12 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that

course should be followed. *Id.* at 696-97.

I. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish that counsel was ineffective when he strategically chose not to offer a 911 audio recording into evidence.

Counsel was not ineffective when he chose not to offer a 911 audio recording into evidence at trial.² “[W]hen counsel articulates a *valid* reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct generally will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 462, 670 S.E.2d 646, 650 (2008). This is gauged under an objective standard of reasonableness. *Id.* Further, “where evidence produced during PCR proceedings is cumulative to or does not otherwise aid evidence introduced at trial, no prejudice results from counsel’s failure to bring it forward.” *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 459, 710 S.E.2d 60, 66 (2011).

Respondent has reviewed the call, asserts it was not favorable to Respondent, and Counsel’s decision not to introduce the 911 call was strategic. Though the call showed Petitioner’s concern and panic over the victim’s life, it was otherwise damning for Petitioner. Specifically, the recording primarily featured Lowery, who made it seem like Petitioner stabbed the victim out of anger when the victim made a pass at Lowery. In fact, in the recording, Lowery twice states that Petitioner was enraged at the victim, started fighting and attacking him for touching Lowery. (Call 1:00, 3:30). She also states he stabbed the victim and blood was everywhere. (Call 1:00, 3:30). Counsel was concerned these statements would highlight that the victim was killed because Petitioner was enraged and began fighting the victim, not because he asked the victim to leave but the victim refused. (App. 566).

Additionally, on the call, the dispatcher continued to ask several times where the knife

² This 911 call was introduced as an exhibit at the PCR hearing and has been transported to this Court for further review.

was and no one entered the house until Lowery stated she could not see the knife anywhere and Petitioner no longer had it in hand. (Call 3:13, 5:07, 6:51) Counsel was concerned about how, because Petitioner was armed, the ambulance was on scene but refusing to enter the house until officers entered and secured the house, further emphasizing that Petitioner was armed and potentially dangerous. (App. 566-67). Thus, Counsel decided not to introduce the 911 call as a part of a strategic decision and, thus, was not deficient.

Regarding prejudice, Respondent contends that, based upon its review of the call, the call featured little substantive information at all, and what substantive information existed on the call came in through testimony at trial. The call essentially consisted of Lowery, extremely panicked, stating Petitioner got angry at the victim for making a pass at her and started fighting the victim, Petitioner stabbed the victim, and blood was all over the room. (Call 0:00-3:30). Additionally, throughout the call, Petitioner was heard yelling at the victim to wake up. (Call 4:58-7:45).

This was information brought in at trial as testimony. At trial, Petitioner stated he asked Tonya to call 911, that he was caught yelling in the background while Tonya was on the call, and that he was not running from the scene and tried to save the victim's life. (App. 65, 416). Further, it was undisputed at trial that Petitioner started fighting with the victim once the victim made a pass at Lowery and that Petitioner ultimately stabbed the victim. (App. 11, 13-16, 27-29, 35-36, 47-49). Thus, the useful information on the audio recording likely would have just repeated the testimony contents while giving further credibility to the State's theory that Petitioner stabbed the victim because he was angry at him and started fighting with him out of anger, not out of defense of himself or his home. Beyond the contents of the call itself, the call was very emotionally charged and did clearly portray Petitioner as someone who got angry and violent which, if anything, probably would have injured Petitioner's case more. Consequently,

because the helpful information from the 911 recording would have been cumulative, Petitioner was not prejudiced by any alleged inaction by Counsel on this ground.

II. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish that counsel was ineffective when he did not request a jury charge on involuntary manslaughter or defense of habitation.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request an involuntary manslaughter or habitation defense jury instruction. Concerning deficiency, Counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, which is measured under an objective standard of reasonableness. *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1992). Counsel is not ineffective for failing to request a lesser included offense jury instruction when there is no evidence that the defendant committed the lesser, as opposed to the greater offense. *Bozeman v. State*, 307 S.C. 172, 176, 414 S.E.2d 144, 146 (1992).

In determining whether a defendant was prejudiced by improper jury instructions, the court must find that, viewing the charge in its entirety and not in isolation, there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the improper instruction in a way that violates the Constitution. *Battle v. State*, 382 S.C. 197, 203, 675 S.E.2d 736, 740 (2009). The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001).

1. Counsel was not ineffective when he did not request an involuntary manslaughter jury instruction.

Counsel was not ineffective when he did not request an involuntary manslaughter jury instruction. Involuntary manslaughter is defined as the unintentional killing of another without malice while engaged in either an unlawful activity not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm or a lawful activity with reckless disregard for the safety of others. *State v. Smith*, 391 S.C. 408, 414, 706 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2011). “To warrant a jury charge on involuntary

manslaughter under either definition, there must be some evidence that the killing was unintentional.” *Sullivan v. State*, 407 S.C. 241, 244-45, 754 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 2014). See *Douglas v. State*, 332 S.C. 67, 74, 504 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1998) (stating “involuntary manslaughter is at its core an unintentional killing”); *State v. Gibson*, 390 S.C. 347, 357, 701 S.E.2d 766, 771 (Ct. App. 2010) (stating “the essence of involuntary manslaughter is the involuntary nature of the killing”). A defendant’s stated intention behind his action that caused a casualty is not singularly dispositive of whether a defendant is entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction. *State v. Sams*, 410 S.C. 303, 310-11, 764 S.E.2d 511, 515 (2014).

Actions allegedly taken in self-defense, or otherwise pursuant to a fight underway, including stabbing or shooting and killing the victim, do not constitute involuntary manslaughter if the fighting or violent action itself was intentional. See e.g. *State v. Pickens*, 320 S.C. 528, 466 S.E.2d 364 (1996) (finding that an applicant’s firing of a gun in self-defense does not support a charge of involuntary manslaughter); *State v. Smith*, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994) (finding that the defendant acted intentionally in wielding a knife and stabbing the victim did not properly constitute involuntary manslaughter); *State v. Morris*, 307 S.C. 480, 415 S.E.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1991) (finding involuntary manslaughter was not an appropriate charge when the defendant intentionally fired a gun in self-defense).

Further, even if the killing itself was unintentional, if the actions leading to the death were unlawful and of a quality to naturally cause death, an involuntary manslaughter instruction is improper. See *State v. Wharton*, 381 S.C. 209, 216, 672 S.E.2d 786, 789 (2009) (finding that even though the defendant did not intentionally fire the gun, an involuntary manslaughter instruction would have been improper because he unlawfully pointed the gun at the victim and waived it in the air); *Douglas v. State*, 332 S.C. 67, 74-75, 504 S.E.2d 307, 310-11 (1998)

(involuntary manslaughter instruction was improper when defendant admitted he intentionally fired the gun in self-defense); *State v. Craig*, 267 S.C. 262, 227 S.E.2d 306 (1976) (finding no error in failure to issue an involuntary manslaughter instruction when the defendant intended to fire the gun over the victim's head).

Here, Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction for involuntary manslaughter, because the evidence presented at trial demonstrated a lack of accident. Petitioner intentionally started fighting with the victim because he became angry with the victim over how he grabbed Lowery. (App. 224, 369-70). Lance testified that Petitioner jumped on the victim and was "steady beating" the victim and calling the victim names. (App. 74). At one point, Petitioner got on top of the victim and began punching him in the face. (App. 10-11, 21, 36-37, 54). Petitioner stated that, the second time, he went after the victim, got him to the ground, and hit the victim many times. (App. 372-73). Petitioner testified at trial that he "got the best of" the victim in the first altercation because he was "just a better fighter." (App. 63). Because Petitioner initiated the fight, hit the victim many times, and called the victim names because he was enraged that the victim for touching Lowery, it remains clear that the fight itself was not on accident and Petitioner did not start the fight for lawful reasons.

Regarding the stabbing specifically, the medical evidence indicates that the stabs, because of how deep they were, were likely not committed on accident. Even it was not Petitioner's aim to stab and kill the victim, however, Petitioner intended to fight with the victim, to hurt him, and to grab the knife from the victim while they were fighting. (App. 224-31) Additionally, the knife wound the victim ultimately died from was very long and deep; thus, the medical examiner determined there were several an incised stabs, as opposed to a cut or slice, and concluded that once the knife went in, Petitioner either pushed it in further, or the victim fell

against it. (App. 322-23). There were two additional stabs on the victim's back. (App. 449). Thus, Petitioner's argument that the stabbing happened purely on accident is likely without merit. Because it was not on accident and was committed pursuant to an unlawful activity naturally to cause death or great bodily injury, Petitioner was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter jury instruction. Counsel, seemingly aware of this, acted reasonably in refusing to request a jury instruction that did not fit the crime charged and, thus, was not deficient on this ground.

Because involuntary manslaughter would not be a jury instruction properly considered in this case, the jury's finding based upon instructions given was not in violation of the Constitution. Thus, Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's alleged failure to request an involuntary manslaughter jury instruction.

2. Counsel was not ineffective when he did not request a defense of habitation jury instruction.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a habitation defense jury instruction. "[T]he defense of habitation provides that where one attempts to force himself into another's dwelling, the law permits an owner to use reasonable force to expel the trespasser." *State v. Rye*, 375 S.C. 119, 124, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007). "For the defense of habitation to apply, a defendant need only establish that a trespass has occurred and that his chosen means of ejection were reasonable under the circumstances." *Id.* For the victim to properly be considered a trespasser, the victim must either "attempt [] to force himself into another's dwelling" or "be a guest in another's dwelling and 'refuse to leave when the owner makes that demand.'" *State v. Bryant*, 391 S.C. 225, 233, 705 S.E.2d 465, 470 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *State v. Bradley*, 126 S.C. 528, 533, 120 S.E.2d 240, 242 (1923)). "When one becomes a trespasser, the law permits the owner of the home to employ such force, even to the taking of the life of the trespasser, as

may be reasonably necessary to accomplish the expulsion. *Id.* at 234, 705 S.E.2d at 470. One is entitled to a charge of defense of habitation when he is defending himself from an imminent attack on his own premises, so long as his subjective belief of imminent danger is reasonable. *State v. Lee*, 293 S.C. 536, 537, 362 S.E.2d 24, 25-26 (1987). One element necessary to this defense is that “the defendant be without fault in bringing about the difficulty.” *State v. Moultrie*, 273 S.C. 532, 534, 257 S.E.2d 730, 731 (1979).

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